
HENRY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
MINUTES 

 
January 24, 2012 – 3:00 pm 

 
The Henry County Board of Supervisors held its regular meeting on January 24, 

2012, at 3:00 pm in the Board Meeting Room of the County Administration Building, 
King’s Mountain Road, Collinsville, Virginia.  The following Board members were 
present: Chairman Jim Adams, Vice-Chairman Tommy Slaughter, Debra Buchanan, 
H.G. Vaughn, Milton Kendall, and Joe Bryant.  

Staff members present were Benny Summerlin, County Administrator; Tim Hall, 
Deputy County Administrator; George Lyle, County Attorney; Michelle Via, 
Administrative Assistant; Darrell Jones, Director of Finance; Richard Stanfield, Deputy 
Director of Finance; and Susan Reynolds, Director of Human Resources. 
  Lt. Col. Steve Eanes, Lt. Eric Hairston, and Deputy Mark Jamison from the 
Sheriff’s Office were present. Paul Collins of the Martinsville Bulletin and Ron Morris of 
B99 were present.  

 

 
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Mr. Vaughn gave the invocation and Mr. Kendall led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 

Chairman Adams called the meeting to order and welcomed everyone present. 
She stated that anyone who wishes to be on the Agenda for the Board’s regular 
business meeting held at 3:00 pm must contact the County Administrator’s Office seven 
days prior to a scheduled meeting.  Those wishing to speak at the Board’s public 
meeting starting at 6:00 pm may do so under Agenda Item - Matters Presented by the 
Public
 Mr. Adams noted an addition to the agenda of which the Board was in 
agreement. 

 without contacting the County Administrator’s Office.  

 

 
ITEMS OF CONSENT: 

(Copy included in Board’s File). 
Confirmation of Minutes of Meetings 

 
 December 13, 2011 
 January 3, 2012 

 

(Copy included in Board’s File). 
Approval of Accounts Payable 

 
 



(Copy included in Board’s File). 

Consideration of Proclamation Declaring February 2012 as “Teen Dating 
Violence Prevention and Awareness Month” in Henry County 

 
Mr. Bryant read the proclamation aloud and moved that the Items of 

Consent be adopted as presented, seconded by Ms. Buchanan.  The motion 
carried 6 to 0.  

Representatives from Citizens Against Family Violence were present to 
accept the proclamation.  

 

 

PRESENTATION BY REPRESENTATIVES OF THE PATRICK HENRY COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE FOUNDATION 

Mr. Gary Collins with the Patrick Henry Community College Foundation was 
present to provide an update on the Foundation’s activities. Also present were Dr. 
Natalie Harder and Chris Parker of the PHCC faculty/staff. Mr. Collins said they are in 
the beginning stages of the recruiting process for a new college president and will 
actively seek the community’s input.  

Dr. Harder, PHCC’s vice president for institutional advancement, said PHCC has 
a significant impact on the local economy, including $13 million in salaries and benefits 
for employees, future capital expenditures of $8.7 million for the new motorsports 
building, and the economic impact from people having increased their education. Dr. 
Harder said the Foundation has provided over $1 million in the last five years to 
students’ education with approximately 50 percent of PHCC students coming from 
Henry County. Dr. Harder said the County’s investment in PHCC is important but the 
returns are significant and she encouraged the Board to consider increasing its 
allocation of $26 a year per county student attending PHCC.  

Mr. Chris Parker, athletic director at the college, talked about the positive impact 
of PHCC athletics on the local economy. Mr. Parker said 85 percent of the 110 PHCC 
student athletes come from outside of the service region and bring an estimated $1.1 
million in revenues to the area through tuition/books, housing/utilities, fuel, food, etc. In 
addition, Mr. Parker said PHCC has hosted baseball and softball tournaments the past 
two years bringing an estimated $100,000 to the community from just one tournament. 
Mr. Parker said they also have plans to expand their sports program by adding soccer 
and utilizing the sports complex.  
 

 

CONSIDERATION OF PROJECTS FOR REGIONAL COMPREHENSIVE ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY (CEDS) 

Mr. Summerlin said each year the West Piedmont Regional Economic 
Development District compiles an updated Comprehensive Economic Development 
Strategy (CEDS). The plan will be forwarded to the U.S. Economic Development 
Administration (EDA) to maintain eligibility to receive EDA funding. Mr. Summerlin said 
the proposed list of projects is identical to the list submitted in 2011. It is essential that 
all projects the Board will consider within the next year be included in the CEDS 
because only projects on the list are eligible for EDA funding. It also is recommended 



that projects that may be funded from other sources be included in order to give the 
County maximum flexibility in the management of its resources. Including a project in 
the CEDS does not commit the County to undertake the project.  
 Ms. Buchanan made a motion that the Board approve the updated CEDS for 
submission to the EDA, seconded by Mr. Kendall. Mr. Vaughn inquired if the marina 
project should be added to the list. Mr. Summerlin said the marina could be added to 
the list but he does not think we would receive EDA funding for the project. Mr. Vaughn 
made a substitute motion that the Board adopt the proposed list and add the Philpott 
Marina, seconded by Ms. Buchanan and carried 6-0. 
 

 
DISCUSSION OF MARINA PROJECT AT PHILPOTT LAKE 

Mr. Summerlin said the Board has been discussing the Philpott Lake marina 
project off and on for six years. In 2011, the County received an update on the feasibility 
analysis with a much narrower scope of basic marina services such as 40 boat slips, 
fuel services, limited campsites using existing facilities, and a small marina store. Mr. 
Summerlin said the premise for revisiting this project is not about providing another 
amenity to our community but rather about economic activity and whether the marina 
would increase economic development in the area. Mr. Summerlin said next to the 
Martinsville Speedway, he feels Philpott Lake has the greatest potential for tourism 
related investments. Mr. Summerlin said business owners near Philpott Lake have 
expressed that a marina would increase everyone’s business. Mr. Summerlin said the 
ability to market Philpott Lake as a tourism related asset is greatly increased now with 
the EDC’s Tourism Division. Mr. Summerlin said he would be happy to answer 
questions and Mr. Craig Rockwell with the Corps of Engineers and Jennifer Doss with 
the EDC’s Tourism office are also present. 

Mr. Vaughn asked Mr. Rockwell how much the tournament weigh-in station at 
Twin Ridge is going to cost. Mr. Rockwell responded approximately $100,000. 

Mr. Bryant asked if an updated study would be necessary if the Board chooses to 
build the marina at a different site than proposed in the feasibility analysis. Mr. 
Summerlin said the Corps has offered Ramp 1 as an alternative site that can be 
operated by either the Corps or the County. Mr. Summerlin said if the Board decides to 
proceed, he would recommend some additional engineering to determine which site is 
more cost effective.  

Mr. Adams asked Mr. Rockwell to detail his envision of the use of Ramp 1 and 
any future alterations or additional stress to the area from the marina operation. Mr. 
Rockwell said he has received quite a bit of feedback about the offering of Ramp 1 and 
he would suggest that if the Board decides to proceed with this option that the Corps 
continues to operate the ramp and the County would lease on either side of the ramp. 

Mr. Vaughn said he has been wrestling with the marina issue primarily because 
of the economy. Mr. Vaughn listed a number of pros, including potential economic 
benefits, such as it might encourage more people to use the lake, and if more people 
use the lake, possibly the Corps of Engineers would put more money into the lake; and 
cons, including people scaling back because of the poor economy and high gas prices. 
Mr. Vaughn said from a business prospective, the marina is not an acceptable return on 
investment; at best it will be a break-even operation. However, Mr. Vaughn said what 



we are considering is an investment in the community just like the river and trail 
accesses, but the marina should be self-sustaining. Mr. Vaughn also pointed out that 
the County already has spent about $500,000 to run a sewer line to the site. Mr. 
Vaughn said his ideal solution would be for the Board to make the commitment to the 
Corps to manage/maintain the facility and seek grant funds, donations, etc. to build the 
marina. Mr. Vaughn asked what the uncommitted fund balance currently is. Mr. 
Summerlin said the uncommitted fund balance is over $15 million. Mr. Summerlin said 
he has identified at least four grant sources for the marina project, but without a 
significant investment by the County, he does not foresee being able to obtain any grant 
funds. 

Mr. Kendall voiced his opposition to the marina over concerns of the economy, 
high gasoline prices, and that many citizens are against investing money for the project. 

Mr. Bryant said while he does not feel that the marina will be a profitable 
operation, he does feel that having a marina at Philpott Lake would be a good drawing 
card for tourists as well as local residents.  

Ms. Buchanan said the marina may not make money but she feels it would be an 
asset to tourism which would benefit the local economy.  

Mr. Slaughter said he has received a number of calls about the project and some 
people want a “five-star” marina, some have said do nothing, but most like the scaled-
back marina plan. Mr. Slaughter said while he too has concerns, overall it will be a real 
benefit to our community and he supports the project. 

Mr. Adams asked Ms. Jennifer Doss of the EDC about the number of visitors at 
Philpott Lake and the economic impact to the area per visitor. Ms. Doss said in the past 
year, Philpott Lake had nearly 700,000 visitors and activity was actually up. Mr. 
Rockwell added that the estimated economic impact within a 30-mile radius of the lake 
is $28.27 per visitor, which equals about $20 million.  

After further general discussion, Mr. Vaughn made a motion that the Board 
commit $400,000 to build and operate a marina on Philpott Lake contingent upon 
receiving matching grant funds. On a second by Mr. Slaughter, the motion passed 5-1. 
Mr. Kendall voted in opposition. 
 

 
REPORT ON DELINQUENT TAX COLLECTION EFFORTS 

Mr. Scott Grindstaff reviewed the monthly reports on delinquent tax collection 
efforts. Mr. John Rife with TACS was also present to update the Board on delinquent 
tax collections.  

Mr. Rife said the overall collections are going well but they still have a lot to do. 
Mr. Rife said the real estate sale held in November was not well attended in part 
because people are under the assumption that they are not receiving a free and clear 
title. Mr. Rife said there needs to be more of an effort made through advertising to 
inform interested parties that the properties do pass free and clear titles and hopefully 
this will increase the number of people as well as the bids. Mr. Rife said 12 of the 16 
properties scheduled for sale in November were paid in full just before the auction. Mr. 
Rife distributed handouts illustrating overall personal property collections in comparison 
to VRW stops placed in 2011 (Copy included in Board’s File). Mr. Rife said the VRWs 
accounted for approximately 37% of overall collections, nearly $59,000, since program 



inception. In addition, overall collections including real estate showed considerable 
spikes in the months after VRWs were placed. 

Mr. Grindstaff requested that the Board consider the possibility of discontinuing 
the sale of decals. Mr. Summerlin asked Mr. Grindstaff what measures are taken to 
collect the decal fee when someone does not purchase it. Mr. Grindstaff said the fees 
are generally written off. Mr. Summerlin inquired why the fee cannot be collected as 
personal property. Mr. Grindstaff said the decals are billed separately from the personal 
property. Ms. Buchanan and Mr. Vaughn asked if the two could be combined in one 
billing statement. Ms. Buchanan requested that Mr. Grindstaff report back to the Board 
on how the decal fees can be collected. 
 

 

MONTHLY UPDATE FROM THE MARTINSVILLE-HENRY COUNTY ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

Mr. Mark Heath, President of the Martinsville-Henry County Economic 
Development Corporation, was present to make the monthly update to the Board. Mr. 
Heath first thanked the Board for its decision to proceed with the marina and said it will 
be a positive addition to tourism efforts and offerings.  Mr. Heath reviewed a summary 
of activities by division (Copy included in Board’s File). Mr. Heath said the EDC is 
working with a total of 29 projects, including 17 active projects.  

Mr. Summerlin commended the EDC staff on securing the $2.4 million grant for 
the water storage tank. Mr. Summerlin said the County has allocated over $23 million to 
Commonwealth Crossing and to date, only $8 million has come from local funding which 
is shared with the City of Martinsville. 
 

 
AWARD OF CONTRACT RE: SOFTWARE SUPPORT – SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

Mr. Summerlin said Sheriff Perry is asking the Board to award a contract to 
Southern Software, Inc. in the amount of $16,150 for the renewal of software support for 
the Sheriff’s Office.  

Mr. Bryant moved that the Board award the contract to Southern Software in the 
amount of $16,150, seconded by Ms. Buchanan and carried 6 to 0. 
 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF AND ADDITIONAL APPROPRIATION RE: TRAFFIC LAWS 
ENFORCEMENT GRANT – SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

Mr. Summerlin said Sheriff Perry is asking the Board to accept and appropriate a 
grant from the Division of Motor Vehicles in the amount of $2,000 for 2011 and $6,400 
for 2012, for a total grant amount of $8,400. According to Sheriff Perry, the money 
would be used to pay overtime for officers to do extra traffic enforcement. 

Ms. Buchanan made a motion that the Board accept the grant and approve the 
additional appropriation as requested, seconded by Mr. Slaughter and unanimously 
carried. 
 
 



 

ACCEPTANCE OF AND ADDITIONAL APPROPRIATION RE: LICENSE PLATE 
READER GRANT – SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

Mr. Summerlin said Sheriff Perry is asking the Board to accept and appropriate a 
grant from the Department of Emergency Management in the amount of $16,040 for the 
purchase of a license plate reader. According to Sheriff Perry, the item would allow a 
patrol deputy to record license plates in an area to search for stolen vehicles. 

Mr. Slaughter moved that the Board accept and appropriate the grant as outlined 
seconded by Mr. Kendall and carried 6 to 0. 
 

 
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 
 

Comments from the Board 

 Mr. Vaughn said he attended a reception at Rich Acres Elementary School for its 
National Blue Ribbon Award achievement. Mr. Vaughn said he was recently contacted 
by a constituent commending Deputy Mike Hooper on his expedient response and 
resolution to her call concerning bags of trash on her road. Mr. Vaughn and the entire 
Board echoed her comments concerning Deputy Hooper and said he is an outstanding 
officer and gives 100% to his job. 
 Mr. Adams said that he and Mr. Slaughter recently attended a business 
neighborhood watch meeting in the Bassett community concerning recent break-ins. Mr. 
Adams said the meeting was well attended and he encouraged all citizens to be 
proactive and get involved. 
 Mr. Summerlin said he signed the final paperwork with FEMA this week to secure 
a $560,000 hazard mitigation grant for the South Street Neighborhood project. 
 

 
CLOSED MEETING 

 Mr. Slaughter moved that the Board go into a closed meeting at 4:27 p.m., 
seconded by Mr. Buchanan and unanimously carried to discuss the following. 
 

1) §2.2-3711(A)1 for Discussion of Appointee to the Industrial Development 
Authority and Planning Commission.  
 

2) §2.2-3711(A)7 for Consultation with the County Attorney re: Pending Legal 
Matters. 

 
3) §2.2-3711(A)3 for Consultation with the County Attorney re: 

Acquisition/Disposal of Real Estate. 
 
4) §2.2-3711(A)5 for Consultation with the County Attorney re: Discussion of 

As-Yet Unannounced Industries. 
 
 
 



 
OPEN MEETING: 

 The Board returned to an open meeting at 5:44 p.m. on a motion by Mr. Vaughn, 
seconded by Ms. Buchanan and unanimously carried. 
  

 
CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED MEETING: 

Mr. Hall read the Certification of the Closed Meeting and took a roll call vote.   
Those voting in the affirmative were Mr. Slaughter, Mr. Bryant, Mr. Kendall, Mr. Adams, 
Mr. Vaughn, and Ms. Buchanan. 
 

The Board took no action during closed session and recessed its meeting at 5:44 
p.m. until the 6:00 evening session. 

 
Mr. Adams called the meeting back to order at 6:00 p.m. and welcomed 

everyone present. 
 

 
PRESENTATION OF 2011 JACK DALTON COMMUNITY SERVICE AWARD 

Mr. Adams said the Board of Supervisors established the Jack Dalton 
Community Service Award in 2001. The award is presented annually to the Henry 
County resident who best exemplifies the standards for community service set by the 
late Mr. Dalton. 

Ms. Buchanan read aloud a resume of volunteerism and community service and 
proudly announced that Claude Cobler is the recipient of the 2011 Jack Dalton 
Community Service Award. Mr. Cobler has been a dedicated volunteer and public 
servant since 1966 when he joined the Bassett Rescue Squad, answering literally 
thousands of calls and training hundreds of volunteers in the practice of emergency 
medical technician services.  

Members of the Board of Supervisors and Ms. Lois Dalton, wife of the late Jack 
Dalton, then presented Mr. Cobler with a plaque. 

Mr. Cobler thanked the Board and everyone present. 
 

 

CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION IN HONOR OF ROBERT D. WADE, JR. OF 
THE HENRY COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

Mr. Kendall read aloud a resolution in honor of Robert D. Wade, Jr., who retired 
from the Henry County Sheriff’s Office on November 1, 2011 with 27½ years of service. 
Mr. Kendall made a motion that the Board adopt the resolution as presented, seconded 
by Mr. Bryant and unanimously carried.  

Retired city sheriff Rodgers and Sheriff Perry spoke highly of Mr. Wade’s career 
in law enforcement and thanked him for his service to the community. Mr. Wade 
thanked the Board. 

 
 
 



 
MATTERS PRESENTED BY THE PUBLIC  

 There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 

 
PUBLIC HEARING - REZONING APPLICATION R-12-01 – FLOYD P. HILL 

Mr. Lee Clark said the property is located at 40 Olaf Lane in the Horsepasture 
District and is shown on Tax Map 51.4(4)/38.  The applicant is requesting the rezoning 
of (1) lot from Suburban Residential District S-R to Mixed Residential District M-R.  The 
applicant wishes to replace the previously removed house with a double wide 
manufactured home on a permanent foundation. Following a public hearing, both the 
Planning Commission and staff recommended that the rezoning request be approved. 

Mr. Adams opened the public hearing at 6:14 pm. There being no one present 
who wished to speak, Mr. Adams closed the public hearing at 6:14 pm. On a motion by 
Ms. Buchanan and second by Mr. Kendall, the Board voted 6 to 0 to approve the 
rezoning request as outlined. 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARING – PROPOSED ABANDONMENT, 30’ R/W’S OFF A.L. PHILPOTT 
HIGHWAY IN AXTON 

Mr. Lee Clark said Danny K. Robertson and Elsie N. Robertson are requesting 
the abandonment of several 30’ right-of-ways located on their property in the Iriswood 
District.  These sections of right-of-way were never constructed and exist only as “paper 
roads” on what is used as farmland.  Mr. Clark said staff is of the opinion that there is no 
public necessity for the continuance of these sections of right-of-way to exist as public 
roads.  VDOT has advised that they have no objection to this abandonment. 

Mr. Adams opened the public hearing at 6:17 pm; there was no one present to 
speak and the public hearing was closed at 6:17 pm. Mr. Kendall made the following 
motion, seconded by Mr. Bryant and carried 6 to 0: 
 
 “Be it ordained and resolved, that certain 30’ right-of-ways (See Exhibit 
“A”) off the north side of US Route 58E, just west of Daniel Road, located in the 
Iriswood District, identified as “30 foot road spaces” on a map for Danny K. and 
Elsie N. Robertson, dated September 30, 2011, prepared by Bryan E. Jones, L.S., 
and recorded in the Henry County Circuit Court Clerk’s Office in MB 94, PG 298., 
be vacated and abandoned, subject to the rights of owners of any utilities 
previously installed.”  
 
 

 
GENERAL HIGHWAY MATTERS 

Ms. Lisa Hughes, Residency Administrator for the Virginia Department of 
Transportation, was present to update the Board on General Highway Matters.  

 Next project is the completion of Route 650, Irisburg Road, running from 
Reynolds Park Road to Mitchell Road; $3.8 million funded by governor’s 
transportation package; plan to advertise for bids late 2014 



 Plans to schedule the annual Secondary Six-Year Plan hearing for the March 
meeting 

 Mr. Bryant thanked Ms. Hughes for the completion of road work on Eliza 
Reamy Avenue. 

 Mr. Kendall thanked Ms. Hughes, the Board and staff for the installation of the 
guard rail on Stoney Mountain Road. 

 Ms. Buchanan asked for a timeline on the Preston Road project. Ms. Hughes 
said they are still in the design phase but the right-of way will probably take 
two years, so you are looking at summer 2014. 

 
 

There being no further business to discuss, Ms. Buchanan moved at 6:21 pm to 
continue the meeting until February 7, 2012 at 3 pm for the Planning Session, seconded 
by Mr. Slaughter and carried 6 to 0.  


